#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

MENKEM ONYIA

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

NO. 2011-CC-01476

MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF EMPLOYMENT SECURITY (MDES)

**APPELLEE** 

### APPEAL FROM CIRCUIT COURT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI HONORABLE JEFF WEILL, SR. CIRCUIT JUDGE

#### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

The undersigned, Menkem Onyia, the Appellant, certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or the judges of Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Integrated Management Services (IMS)

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Did Appellant timely file his appeal within the period allowed for filing such appeal and in accordance with at least one of the five permissible methods for filing the appeal, thus requiring the reversal of both the MDES Board of Review's initial decision dated December 30, 2010 and the decision of Judge Jeff Weill, Sr., dated July19, 2011 on Appellant's appeal?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In summary, this is a case of whether Appellant's appeal of Judge Jan Topolsky's November 19, 2010 decision was timely filed within the period allowed for filing such appeal in accordance with at least one of the five permissible methods for filing the appeal and in accordance with § 71-5-519 B of the Mississippi Department of Employment Security Law.

By way of background, Appellant timely appealed the initial determination of MDES which concluded that Appellant voluntarily left employment without good cause by not contacting and informing the employer of his delay in Nigeria from returning to work in the USA. On November 19, 2010, Administrative Law Judge Jan Topolski affirmed the determination of MDES that Appellant voluntarily left employment without good cause by not contacting and informing the employer of his delay in Nigeria from returning to work in the USA after a telephonic hearing he conducted on November 18, 2010. During the telephonic hearing on November 18, 2010, Judge Topolski asked

Appellant whether he had contacted or attempted to contact his "employer" while he was in Nigeria to inform the employer of his status of returning to work. Appellant misinterpreted "employer" in the question to mean contacting the President and COO of the company, Rod Hill, who was the subject of discussion in reference to Appellant's previous submitted statement to Judge Topolski regarding this matter. At the time of the question by Judge Topolski, Appellant answered "no" which led to Judge Topolski's affirmative decision. However, following the telephonic hearing, Appellant realized that "employer" applies to not only the President and COO of the company, but also to agents and staff of employer. Thus, as described in Appellant's subsequent appeal briefs and filings, he did in fact contact agents and staff of the employer through the employer's Engineers, Bernard LeBlanc ("LeBlanc") and Keble Ward ("Ward") several times while in Nigeria, thus showing Appellant's reasonable efforts to inform the Employer of his delay in Nigeria. It was during these several calls with LeBlanc and Ward that Appellant explained to them the political situation in Nigeria and why he could not return to work in the USA because of the death of the President of Nigeria at that time, placing the country in a state of turmoil. Appellant supported this fact with evidence in the form of US cell phone records of both LeBlanc and Ward which evidence the calls received from Appellant's telephone number 0112348031373255 in Port Harcourt, Nigeria, as well as sworn affidavits of both LeBlanc and Ward in support of this.

Subsequent to Judge Topolsky's November 19, 2010 decision Appellant timely filed an appeal of this decision. Appellant did so by complying with the filing deadline by telephonically calling MDES (601-321-6503) on December 3, 2010, and speaking with a staff member of MDES named Janice. Appellant told Janice that by the telephone call, Appellant is placing MDES Board

of Review on notice of Appellant's filing of appeal. Appellant then informed Janice that a copy of the appeal was sent on December 2, 2010 via US Postal Service Certified Mail, Return Receipt Requested, and further inquired with Janice as to whether or not it was necessary for him to send a copy of the appeal via fax to ensure that the MDES Board of Review received it. Janice responded, "No, it is not necessary to send a fax since you have now informed us of your filing the appeal and that you also sent the appeal via US Postal Service, Certified Mail, Return Receipt Requested." However, Janice did state that she would send a message to the MDES Board of Review that Appellant timely filed the appeal through the telephone call, which Janice did. MDES Board of Review records will confirm this assertion because Appellant's subsequent telephone calls to MDES (601-321-6503) confirmed that Janice sent messages to the MDES Board of Review informing it that Appellant's appeal was file on December 2, 2010, and December 3, 2010 by telephone call to MDES which she received and further that the MDES Board of Review was notified of the same by MDES staff member Janice on December 3, 2010. See Attachment B for copies of the US Postal Service receipts for Certified Mail, Postage and completed Return Receipt Requested, signed by Jerry Burkett of MDES Board of Review.

Notwithstanding all of the above noted chain of events, on December 9, 2010, Appellant received the completed Return Receipt Requested form signed by Jerry Burkett of the MDES, with an incorrect stamped Date of delivery as November 6, 2010 instead of December 6, 2010 (See Item (3) of Attachment B, copy of completed Return Receipt Requested). Then, on December 11, 2010, Appellant received the MDES Board of Review Acknowledgement of Appeal Filed, dated December 10, 2010, copy attached (see Attachment C). Following this, on January 5, 2011, Appellant received the MDES Board of Review Decision of December 30, 2010,

dismissing the Appellant's appeal based on the incorrect conclusion that Appellant's appeal was not timely filed in accordance with § 71-5-519 B of the Mississippi Department of Employment Security Law – by December 3, 2010. See the attached copies of MDES Board of Review Decision (Attachment D).

In light of the MDES Board of Review's December 30, 2010 decision, Appellant then filed an appeal of that decision, properly contending that the December 30, 2010 decision should be reversed because Appellant timely filed his appeal of Administrative Law Judge, Jan Topolski's November 19, 2010 decision via at least two of the permissible methods for filing. Judge Jeff Weill Sr. rendered a decision on Appellant's appeal on July 19, 2011, affirming the MDES Board of Review's December 30, 2010 decision. As a result, Appellant now appeals to this Honorable Court for a review of the underlying decisions in this matter so that Appellant will be afforded proper due process in this matter and ultimately be afforded the opportunity to have his case proceed to a decision on the merits of his claim.

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

This case surrounds the main issue of whether or not Appellant timely filed his appeal of the MDES's November 19, 2010 decision. Appellant did in fact timely file his appeal in accordance with §§ 71-5-517 and 71-5-519 of the Mississippi Department of Employment Security Law. Moreover, he did so by *more than one* of the *five* permissible methods for filing. Unfortunately, due to administrative error on the part of MDES staff, Appellant's appeal was not properly recorded as received in December 2010. Rather, it was improperly recorded as received in *November* 2010, which was clearly incorrect and impossible based on the procedural history and relevant dates in this matter.

Nonetheless, the improper recording of the date shows error and negligence on behalf of MDES staff and thus supports a showing of good cause by Appellant and his contention that his appeal was timely filed. Where there is clear evidence of administrative error in a matter such as this case, the Court should err on the side of the Appellant as to allow the Appellant his right and fair opportunity to be heard on his appeal and the merits of his claim. As such, Appellant contends that the underlying decisions should be reversed and that his case should proceed to a decision based on the merits of his claim.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. The MDES Board of Review decision dated December 30, 2010 should be reversed because Appellant timely filed his appeal of Administrative Law Judge, Jan Topolski's November 19, 2010 decision via at least two of the permissible methods for filing

Pursuant to §§ 71-5-517 and 71-5-519 of the Mississippi Department of Employment Security Law, there are five permissible methods for filing an appeal:

- (1) Delivery by the United States postal Services to the address provided on the determination or decision being appealed;
- (2) Faxing to the number provided in the determination or decision being appealed:
- (3) In-person at any WIN Job Center;
- (4) Electronically at the address provided in the determination or decision being appealed; or
- (5) Telephonically by calling the number provided on the determination or decision being appealed.

Brown v. Miss. Dep't of Empl. Sec., 29 So. 3d 766 (Miss. 2010).

Appellant had until December 3, 2010 to file his appeal in this matter. As stated by Appellant in his previous submission to the lower Court, Appellant utilized methods number one and five listed above. Appellant sent his appeal via US Postal Service via Certified Mail, Return Receipt Requested on <u>December 2, 2010</u> (see Attachments A and B). Further, Appellant also contacted the MDES Board of Review via a telephone call to 601-321-6503 on <u>December 3</u>,

**2010** to notify MDES of the filing of his appeal. Appellant spoke with a staff member of MDES named Janice on December 3, 2010. Appellant told Janice that by the telephone call, Appellant is placing MDES Board of Review on notice of Appellant's filing of appeal. Appellant then informed Janice that a copy of the appeal was sent on December 2, 2010 via US Postal Service Certified Mail, Return Receipt Requested, and further inquired with Janice as to whether or not it was necessary for him to send a copy of the appeal via method number 2, fax, to ensure that the MDES Board of Review received it. Appellant wanted to ensure that his appeal was timely filed and received by the MDES Board of Review and he was willing to file his appeal via more than one of the permissible methods of filing if necessary. Nonetheless, Janice responded, "No. it is not necessary to send a fax since you have now informed us of your filing the appeal and that you also sent the appeal via US Postal Service, Certified Mail, Return Receipt Requested." However, Janice did state that she would send a message to the MDES Board of Review that Appellant timely filed the appeal through the telephone call, which Janice did on December 3, 2010 – MDES Board of Review records will support this as Janice sent messages to the MDES Board of Review as stated above.

In its previous submission to Judge Jeff Weill, Sr. of the lower Court (see Attachment E),
Appellee contends that Appellant did not speak with MDES staff member Janice at the number
listed above. Appellant strongly disagrees with Appellee's assertion in this regard as he did in
fact speak with the staff member named Janice as stated previously. Appellee is partially
correct however — Appellant did **not** speak with any MDES staff member on **December 2**.

2010 as Appellant never made any statement to that fact. Rather, as Appellant has stated
throughout his correspondence related to this matter, he spoke with Janice on **December 3**,

**2010** (see Appellant's Brief dated April 25, 2011, pages 2-3). Appellant contacted the telephone number provided to him in the November 19, 2010 decision and yes, he did in fact press "1" to file his appeal. It was then that he was connected to Janice in the call center and he gave her the notification of his appeal as stated above. In further support of this, Appellant respectfully requested that Judge Jeff Weill, Sr. of the lower Court contact the employee (Janice) and request that she provide testimony attesting to the fact that she spoke with Appellant and took his appeal via the telephone on December 3, 2010. Additionally, Appellant also requested that the MDES Board of Review records be obtained and reviewed as they will support these facts as Janice also sent messages to the MDES Board of Review informing it that Appellant's appeal was filed via mail on December 2, 2010, and that Appellant filed telephonically on December 3, 2010 by telephone call placed to and received by MDES. Neither of these requests was fulfilled by Judge Jeff Weill, Sr. of the lower Court.

Notwithstanding, by filing his appeal via the US Postal Service via Certified Mail, Return Receipt Requested on December 2, 2010 and via the telephonic call to MDES Board of Review on December 3, 2010 which placed the MDES Board of Review on notice of Appellant's filing of the appeal, Appellant met the requirements for filing a timely appeal in this matter in accordance with the methods and procedures for filing appeals as established under the applicable Mississippi Laws.

# II. Appellant is able to show good cause for his appeal being deemed to be untimely due to clear administrative error on the part of MDES staff as acknowledged by Appellee

Should this Honorable Court not find that Appellant's appeal was timely filed, Appellant properly contends that if that is the case, it is a result of acknowledged administrative error on the part of MDES staff and he is thus able to satisfy a showing of good cause.

By way of background, on December 9, 2010, Appellant received the completed Return Receipt Requested form in connection with his appeal to the MDES Board of Review signed by Jerry Burkett of the MDES, with a stamped Date of delivery as **November 6, 2010** instead of December 6, 2010 (See Item (3) of Attachment B, copy of completed Return Receipt Requested). On December 11, 2010, Appellant received the MDES Board of Review Acknowledgement of Appeal Filed, dated December 10, 2010, copy attached (see Attachment C). Then, on January 5, 2011, Appellant received the MDES Board of Review Decision of December 30, 2010, dismissing the Appellant's appeal based on the incorrect conclusion that Appellant's appeal was not timely filed in accordance with § 71-5-519 B of the Mississippi Department of Employment Security Law – by December 3, 2010. See the attached copies of MDES Board of Review Decision (Attachment D).

As evidenced by the attached supporting documentation, it is clear that Jerry Burkett of the MDES incorrectly dated the Return Receipt Requested form with the date of **November 6**, **2010**. Even Appellee agreed in its Brief to Judge Jeff Weill, Sr. of the lower court (see Attachment E) that Appellant's submission was incorrectly stamped November 6, 2010 and thus acknowledges the **administrative error** on behalf of MDES as Appellant's submission was not sent until December 2, 2010. Thus, by Appellee's own admission and acknowledgement, administrative errors did in fact occur in this case with respect to Appellant's filings.

Timeliness of the filings of appeals is critical in these cases as a claimant may be precluded from asserting his rights to an appeal if the appeal is not received within the requisite fourteen day time period. As a result of this aspect of the appeals process being extremely critical to the ultimate appeal being sought, MDES has the burden and responsibility to ensure

that it takes care and caution when receiving and documenting the receipt of the appeals.

Appellee in this instance did **not** show responsibility or care in this regard. Again, this is evidenced by the acknowledged error with respect to the date stamp on Appellant's appeal. The date on which the appeal was received by MDES is of critical and significant importance and as such, MDES has the duty to ensure that the date is properly recorded for records purposes.

Unfortunately, Appellee already has admitted that it failed in this regard to exhibit such care with respect to recording the proper month in which the appeal was received.

Appellant is firm in his belief and contends that this same type of administrative error could very likely also have occurred with respect to the **day** of the month on which the Appellant's appeal was received and recorded by the MDES and that this error most likely did in fact occur. Can Appellee ensure that this same type of administrative error was not also made with respect to the day on which Appellant's appeal was received? No. Is Appellant confident that no other administrative errors occurred by MDES in his case that could potentially prohibit him from his right to have his appeal heard? No, he is not. The evidence in this case has already shown at least two errors by MDES: the first error being with respect to the date stamp of Appellant's appeal discussed herein, and the second being Appellee's incorrect assertion that Appellant contacted MDES on **December 2, 2010** instead of the actual date Appellant did place the call, which was on **December 3, 2010**. This second error is evidenced on page six of Appellee's Brief to Judge Jeff Weill, Sr. of the lower court (see Attachment E, P. 6). As clarified by Appellant in this filing in section I above, he did not contact MDES on December 2, 2010, nor did he ever make any statement to that fact. Nonetheless, MDES confidently asserts that he did - in error. Both of these errors (particularly the administrative error regarding the

date stamp) do not support any belief that MDES took the care and caution it needed with respect to the handling of Appellant's appeal. Rather, these errors support a finding of negligence by MDES in the handling of Appellant's appeal claim.

Where there is clear evidence of administrative error by the MDES Board of Review as there is in the instant case, this Honorable Court should err on the side of the Appellant as to allow the Appellant his right and fair opportunity to be heard on his appeal and the merits of his claim, as opposed to dismissing his appeal due to procedural and non-substantive reasons, most likely due to administrative error on the part of Appellee, as acknowledged, evidenced and noted above. Appellant is clear that the law so far in this regard has been stringent with respect to timeliness of filings, however, Appellant contends and asserts that his circumstances fall within an exception in this area due to the fact that Appellee has shown it has been negligent with respect to the proper recording of the date on which his appeal was received. As such, Appellant is able to show good cause with respect to the filing of his appeal and respectfully requests that this Honorable Court allow him the opportunity to have his appeal heard and decided on the merits.

# III. Appellant did not cause the event which caused his appeal to be deemed to be untimely filed, and thus as he is able to show good cause, the statutory time limit may be extended as it has affected Appellant's substantial rights

Appellant firmly contends that his appeal was timely filed as expressed above. However, in the event that his appeal is deemed to be untimely by this Honorable Court and not filed within the fourteen days as required by §§ 71-5-517 and 71-5-519 of the Mississippi Code, it would be as a result of administrative error that he did not cause, and thus, Appellant asserts that the time

limit for filing his appeal may be extended under the circumstances and in accordance with case law supporting the same.

§ 71-5-517 of the Mississippi Department of Employment Security Law provides in pertinent part:

The claimant or any party to the initial determination or amended initial determination may file an appeal from such initial determination or amended initial determination within fourteen (14) days after notification thereof, or after the date such notification was sent to his last known address.

Miss.Code Ann. § 71-5-517 (Rev.2000)

Further, § 71-5-519 of the Mississippi Department of Employment Security Law provides in pertinent part:

The parties shall be duly notified of such tribunal's decision, together with its reasons therefore, which shall be deemed to be the final decision of the executive director unless, within fourteen (14) days after the date of notification of such decision, further appeal is initiated pursuant to Section 71-5-523.

Miss.Code Ann. § 71-5-519 (Rev.2000)

Additionally, the Court in <u>Wilkerson v. Miss. Emp. Sec. Comm'n.</u>, 630 So. 2d 1000 (Miss. 1994) specifically allows for an extension of the statutory time limit where Appellant is able to show good cause and he did not cause the event which caused his appeal to be deemed untimely. As is known by this Honorable Court, there have been many cases which have been appealed on the basis of timeliness of the appeal filings. <u>Wilkerson</u> is such a case. In this case, while the majority of the Court found that MDES was not authorized to accept an appeal outside of the fourteen (14) day appeal time period, the Court did allow for a "relaxation of the standard" where "good cause" is shown. <u>Id.</u> At 1002. In the instant case, Appellant is able to support a showing of "good cause" as outlined by the <u>Wilkerson</u> Court due to the administrative error which occurred and has been discussed above in section II.

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