IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS

CASE NO. 2011-CC-01476

MENKEM ONYIA

APPELLANT

V.

CASE NO. 2011-CC-01476

MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF EMPLOYMENT SECURITY

APPELLEES

BRIEF OF APPELLEE, MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF EMPLOYMENT SECURITY

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HINDS COUNTY FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

OF COUNSEL:

ALBERT BOZEMAN WHITE ASSISTANT GENERAL COUNSEL MS BAR NO. LEANNE F. BRADY SENIOR ATTORNEY MS BAR NO. MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF EMPLOYMENT SECURITY POST OFFICE BOX 1699 JACKSON, MS 39215-1699 Telephone: (601) 321-6073 Facsimile: (601) 321-6076

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Mississippi Code Annotated Section 71-519 provides that a claimant or employer who disagrees with the ALJ's decision has fourteen (14) calendar days from the date it was mailed to appeal such decision.

In this case, the ALJ's decision was mailed to Mr. Onyia on <u>November 19, 2010</u>, at the mailing address he provided on his Initial Claim, and at which he received all prior communications from MDES. (R. Vol. 2, p. 1, 65-68). The ALJ's decision informed Mr. Onyia that he had fourteen (14) days from the date the decision was mailed to appeal to the Board of Review. (R. Vol. 2, p. 68). As stated in the ALJ decision, the deadline for Mr. Onyia to file his appeal was <u>December 3, 2010</u>. (R. Vol. 2, p. 68). MDES did not receive Mr. Onyia's appeal until <u>December 6, 2010; and it was officially filed with the Board of Review on December 7, 2010</u>. (R. Vol. 2, p. 69-70). Thus, his appeal was at least three (3) days late, such that the Board of Review's decision is correct.

Mr. Onyia claims that he actually appealed the ALJ decision by telephone on December 3, 2010, when he called the MDES to see if his appeal letter post-marked December 2, 2010 had been received. However, the MDES has no record of him appealing by telephone on that date; and his Certified-Mail appeal letter was not received until December 6, 2010, being three (3) days late.

Alternatively, Mr. Onyia argues that MDES made an error in dating the receipt of his appeal letter, such that he has established good cause for the Court to allow his untimely appeal. The Return Receipt was incorrectly dated "November 6, 2010", instead of "December 6, 2010." However, the appeal letter was also correctly stamped "Received" by the Board of Review on December 7, 2010. Since said letter admittedly was not mailed until December 2, 2010, it could not have been received in November. Thus, the error in the month written on the Return Receipt

is insufficient to establish good cause to allow his appeal out of time, based on some alleged implication that the day it was received may also be erroneous.

The Hinds County Circuit reviewed the record and Briefs; and found that the Board of Review correctly dismissed Mr. Onyia's appeal as untimely. (R. Vol. 1, p. 10-11). Based on the standard of review on appeal, and the facts and law, this Honorable Court should also affirm the decision of the Board of Review dismissing Mr. Onyia's appeal as untimely. Alternatively, in the event that the Court allows the appeal, it should determine that based on the record made before the ALJ, Mr. Onyia voluntarily quit his employment without good cause due to job abandonment. Alternatively, if the Court excuses his late appeal, the Court should remand this matter to the Board of Review to consider the appeal and make that determination on the separation issue.

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review

The provisions of Section 71-5-531 provide for an appeal by any party aggrieved by the decision of the Board of Review. That section provides that the <u>appeals court shall consider</u> the record made before the Board of Review of the Mississippi Employment Security Commission, and absent fraud, shall accept the findings of fact if supported by substantial evidence, and the correct law has been applied. (Emphasis added). Richardson v. Miss. Emp. Sec. Comm'n., 593 So. 2d 31 (Miss. 1992); Barnett v. Miss. Emp. Sec. Comm'n., 583 So. 2d 193 (Miss. 1991); Wheeler v. Arriola, 408 So. 2d 1381 (Miss. 1982).

In <u>Barnett</u>, the Mississippi Supreme Court stated that:

{J}udicial review, under Mississippi Code Annotated Section 71-5-531 (1972), is in most circumstances, limited to questions of law, to-wit:

In any judicial proceedings under this section, the findings of the board of review as to the facts, if supported by substantial evidence and in the absence of fraud, shall be conclusive, and the jurisdiction of said shall be confined to questions of law.

Barnett, 583 So. 2d at 195.

Furthermore, if the Board's findings are supported by substantial evidence and the relevant law was properly applied, then the reviewing court must affirm. <u>Id.</u> A rebuttable presumption exists in favor of the Board of Review's decision and the challenging party has the burden of proving otherwise. <u>Allen v. Miss. Emp. Sec. Comm'n.</u>, 639 So. 2d 904, 906 (Miss. 1994). The appeals court must not reweigh facts nor insert its judgment for that of the agency. <u>Allen</u>, 639 So. 2d at 906.

II. Facts Showing Claimant's Appeal Was Not Filed Timely

Mississippi Code Annotated Section 71-5-519 sets forth the applicable appeal time providing, in pertinent part, to wit:

The parties shall be duly notified of such tribunal's decision, together with its reasons therefore, which shall be deemed to be the final decision of the executive director unless, within fourteen (14) days after the date of notification of such decision, further appeal is initiated pursuant to Section 71-5-523.

Emphasis added.

In the case *sub judice*, the ALJ's decision was mailed on November 19, 2010, to the Claimant at the mailing address he provided on his Initial Claim, and at which he received all prior communications from MDES. (R. Vol. 2, p. 1, 65-68). The ALJ's decision informed Mr. Onyia that he had fourteen (14) days from the date the decision was mailed to appeal to the Board of Review, and further informed him of the deadline to file his appeal, being **December 3, 2010**. This information was printed in bold, black letters. Nevertheless, Mr. Onyia did not file his appeal to the Board of Review until **December 6, 2010**, being three (3) days late. (R. Vol. 2, p. 65-68, 69-70).

a.) Alleged Appeal By Telephone

In his appeal letter to the Board of Review, Mr. Onyia gives no reason for untimely filing his appeal. (R. Vol. 2 p. 70). However, in his Brief to this Honorable Court, Mr. Onyia asserts that he actually appealed to the Board of Review by contacting "Janice", an MDES staff member, on **December 3, 2010**, at (601) 321-6503. Mr. Onyia claims that he called the Appeal number specified on the ALJ decision, and was connected with "Janice". The MDES Appeal number (601) 321-6503 is an automated number shown in the ALJ's decision as one of the two numbers to call to appeal. By calling this number, callers are given only three options, being to press "1" to appeal, "2" to inform the Appeals department of phone contact information for a hearing, or "3" to return

a phone call from the Appeal department. Once option "1" is pressed, the caller is connected with a phone Appeals attendant at the Call Center. This number does not give callers the option of connecting to the Benefit Payment Control department, where one of three persons named "Janice" is employed, and where a claimant would call to inquire regarding an overpayment. Thus, Mr. Onyia's testimony that he spoke to "Janice" indicates that he called MDES to inquire about MDES's notice to him of an overpayment in the amount of \$705.00, not to file an appeal. (R. Vol. 2 p. 8). Even so, assuming that Mr. Onyia was connected to the Benefit Payment Control department, "Janice" in that department would not have been able to take and log his appeal as filed; and he would have either been transferred to the Appeal number, or instructed to call MDES back at the correct phone number.

Regarding Mr. Onyia's alleged appeal by phone on December 3, 2010, the MDES Appeals department has no record of a call from him on that date. Further, Mr. Onyia admits in his Brief that he never spoke to the Appeals department, or an appeal attendant at the Call Center. Further, Mr. Onyia produces no phone records to the Court showing the MDES number that he allegedly called on December 3, 2010.

Based on his Brief, Mr. Onyia did not follow the proper phone instructions to file an appeal, but instead apparently called a different number and spoke to an MDES employee in the Benefit Payment Control department, which does not accept or handle taking appeals. Although Mr. Onyia may have spoken with "Janice" regarding an overpayment of benefits, he did so only by calling a different number than the number listed on the ALJ's decision, which was the only appropriate number to file an appeal.

Mr. Onyia's vague allegations, without substantial proof, *i.e.* his phone records, showing that he in fact called the MDES on December 3, 2010, and called the correct Appeal phone number, do not establish that he appealed on that date.

b.) Alleged Appeal By Letter

The only MDES record of an appeal by Mr. Onyia is a letter to the MDES Board of Review on December 2, 2010, via Certified Mail, Return Receipt Requested.

In that regard, Mr. Onyia produced a Return Receipt reflecting that the MDES mail center received the letter until **December 6, 2010**, which was incorrectly stamped "November 6, 2010". (*See* Appellant's Attachment B (3) and Exhibit "A" attached to his Circuit Court Brief). This appeal letter was forwarded to, and stamped "Received" by the Board of Review on December 7, 2010. (R. Vol. 2 p. 71). Thus, his appeal was effectively filed for the first and only time on December 6, 2010, at the earliest date, when received by the MDES; and subsequently when forwarded to and received by the Board of Review on December 7, 2010, being at least three days late.

In <u>Wilson v. Miss. Dept. Emp. Sec.</u>, 32 So. 3d 130 (Miss. Ct. App. 2010), the Court held that the appeal must be **received** by MDES on the fourteenth (14th) day, or it is not timely filed. In this case both MDES's records and Mr. Onyia's Return Receipt establish that MDES did not receive his appeal until three (3) days <u>past</u> the appeal deadline of December 3, 2010.

In <u>Brown v. Miss. Dept. of Emp. Sec.</u>, 29 So 3d 766 (Miss. Ct. App. 2010), the Court again considered whether an appeal was timely filed as of the date it was postmarked, rejecting this argument by Mr. Brown. In this case, Mr. Brown had fourteen (14) days to appeal from the Claims Examiner's June 6, 2008 decision, making the appeal deadline <u>June 20, 2008</u>. Mr. Brown mailed his appeal on June 20, 2008, and the letter was postmarked as of that day. However, it was not received by MDES until June 25, 2008. The Court held that the appeal was five (5) days late; and affirmed MDES's dismissal of Mr. Brown's case.

In his Brief to this Honorable Court, Mr. Onyia does not assert that his appeal letter dated December 2, 2010 was timely filed by being postmarked prior to the December 3, 2010 deadline. However, he argues that due to Agency administrative error in incorrectly dating the month it was received, creates an issue as to whether MDES did not in fact receive this letter on December 3, 2010, not December 6, 2010. Specifically, he alleges that his appeal letter <u>may have actually been</u> received prior to December 6, 2010, based on an alleged inference of doubt created by the Return Receipt incorrectly reflecting receipt in November, rather than December, 2010. However, an error in dating the month the letter was received does not establish that an error occurred in dating the day it was received.

As to this argument, this Honorable Court should take judicial notice that December 2, 2010 was a Thursday; that December 3, 2010 was a Friday; that MDES, being a State Agency, was closed for business on Saturday and Sunday December 4 and 5, 2010; and that the next business day was Monday December 6, 2010. Since the letter was not received on December 3rd, the next business day was December 6th. Further, the letter could not have been received in November, since it was not post-marked until December 2nd. Further, it is not unusual for local mail to take at least a couple of days to be delivered. It is certainly logical that MDES did not receive the December 2nd letter until December 6th, particularly since it was sent Certified Mail, which may also extend the time for delivery by the Post Office due to additional handling requirements. Further, the fact the month was entered wrong on the Return Receipt, without some other proof, should not sufficiently establish that the day was wrong to justify Mr. Onvia's out-of-time appeal.

Based upon <u>Brown</u> and <u>Wilson, supra</u>, Mr. Onyia must establish that his appeal letter was <u>received</u> timely by the MDES. It is not the burden of MDES to prove that it was not received timely. Further, the Agency error in dating the month the Return Receipt has no bearing on the date the appeal letter was actually received, when it could not have been received in November. Obviously, the letter postmarked as of December 2, 2010 could not have been received on November 6, 2010. The fact the letter was erroneously dated November 6, 2010 should not create any implication that it was received on December 3, 2010, since the error is in the month, not the day. Further, the letter is also stamped "Received" by the Board of Review as of December 7, 2010. Thus, Mr. Onyia's argument that the fourteen (14) day appeal requirement should be relaxed due to the dating of the Return Receipt should be rejected as irrelevant, insufficiently probative, and unpersuasive as grounds to allow his late appeal to proceed for good cause shown. Typically, to establish good cause, there must be a showing of some affirmative event or legal cause that delayed delivery of the appeal letter to the MDES. Holt v. Miss. Emp. Sec. Comm'n., 724 So. 2d 466 (Miss. App Ct. 1998).

In <u>Wilkerson v. Miss. Emp. Sec. Comm'n.</u>, 630 So. 2d 1000 (Miss. 1994), the Mississippi Supreme Court held that when notification is by mail, the fourteen day time period began running from the mailing date. <u>Id.</u> at 1002. Furthermore, while holding that an appeal filed <u>one</u> day late was untimely, the Court stated that the fourteen-day time period as set by statute is to be strictly construed. <u>Id.</u> *Emphasis added*.

Mr. Onyia was afforded all of the notice to which he was entitled and his appeal to the Board of Review was not timely filed. Since notification was sent by mail to his correct address, the case of <u>Wilkerson v. Miss. Emp. Sec. Comm'n.</u>, 630 So. 2d 1000 (Miss. 1994), is on point and controls as to calculating the appeal deadline.

Further, Mr. Onyia was given instructions in the ALJ decision as to how to appeal. He failed to follow those instructions, instead apparently questioning an MDES employee in a different MDES department about his overpayment of benefits. Since Mr. Onyia was notified of the procedure for filing an appeal in the ALJ decision, and since he failed to timely follow that procedure, Mr. Onyia failed to establish good cause for his untimely appeal.

III. Voluntary Quit Issue

Regarding the record testimony as to Mr. Onyia's job separation, in the instant case, Menkem Onyia testified first. Mr. Onyia stated that his last day to work for the Employer was on April 2, 2010, when he left for Nigeria. He asked for a 3-4 week leave of absence sometime prior to April 2, but he could not remember the exact date. (R. Vol. 2, p. 30-33). He alleged the leave was approved, but did not state for how long, or produce any written approval.

Mr. Onyia was questioned further about the need for the leave of absence. He stated that he needed to travel to Nigeria to meet with the descendants of his late father, Chief Jayaigia Onyia. He told the Employer that the length of his absence depended on the circumstances. However, he expected to be gone about three weeks to one month. (R. Vol. 2, p. 36). Mr. Onyia claimed that Thomas Avant or Mr. Danzi gave him permission to leave. (R.Vol. 2 p. 36-37). Mr. Avant disputed that in his testimony. (R. Vol. 2, p. 56-57).

Mr. Onyia was questioned as to when he returned to work. He returned to the United States towards the <u>end of June</u>, <u>but did not</u> attempt to return to work <u>until June 30, 2010</u>. He had no contact with the Employer from April 2 until he attempted to return to work on June 30. (R. Vol. 2, p. 36-39). Mr. Onyia alleged that he could not call the Employer during that time due to the circumstances in Nigeria. He stated the country was in turnoil due to the death of the president. He alleged that he could not go anywhere or do anything due to the unrest, but he also

admitted that he had constant contact with his daughter, who was in Washington, D. C. (R. Vol. 2, p. 37-40). He did not state that the phones were not working in Nigeria; and obviously some phones were working for him to be in constant contact with his daughter.

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